Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Biochimica et Biophysica Acta

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/bbamem

Folding and stability of the aquaglyceroporin GlpF: Implications for human aqua(glycero)porin diseases

Noreen Klein^a, Jennifer Neumann^a, Joe D. O'Neil^b, Dirk Schneider^{a,*}

^a Department of Pharmacy and Biochemistry, Johannes Gutenberg-University Mainz, 55128 Mainz, Germany

^b Department of Chemistry, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3T 2N2, Canada

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 12 September 2014 Received in revised form 12 November 2014 Accepted 14 November 2014 Available online 20 November 2014

Keywords: Aquaporin GlpF Membrane protein Protein activity Protein folding

ABSTRACT

Aquaporins are highly selective polytopic transmembrane channel proteins that facilitate the permeation of water across cellular membranes in a large diversity of organisms. Defects in aquaporin function are associated with common diseases, such as *nephrogenic diabetes insipidus*, congenital cataract and certain types of cancer. In general, aquaporins have a highly conserved structure; from prokaryotes to humans. The conserved structure, together with structural dynamics and the structural framework for substrate selectivity is discussed. The folding pathway of aquaporins has been a topic of several studies in recent years. These studies revealed that a conserved protein structure can be reached by following different folding pathways. Based on the available data, we suggest a complex folding pathway for aquaporins, starting from the insertion of individual helices up to the formation of the tetrameric aquaporin structure. The consequences of some known mutations in human aquaporin-encoding genes, which most likely affect the folding and stability of human aquaporins, are discussed.

© 2014 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction: the aquaporin family \ldots	522				
2.	The conserved structure of $aqua(glycero)$ porins	523				
3.	Substrate specificity and protein dynamics	524				
4.	Folding of aquaporins	526				
	4.1. The GlpF monomer folds in multiple stages	526				
	4.2. Oligomerization is crucial for the GlpF function and stability	526				
	4.3. GlpF unfolding involves multiple structural transitions	527				
	4.4. Folding of GlpF in multiple steps	528				
5.	Mutations affect the structure and function of human aquaporins	528				
	5.1. Mutations in GxxxG-like motifs, which mediate tight helix-helix contacts	529				
	5.2. Insertion of polar residues in transmembrane domains.	530				
	5.3. Mutations at helix-helix interfaces	530				
6.	Conclusions and outlook	530				
Ack	nowledgements	630				
References						
Ren						

E-mail address: Dirk.Schneider@uni-mainz.de (D. Schneider).

1. Introduction: the aquaporin family

Aquaporins are highly selective polytopic transmembrane (TM) channel proteins with a molecular mass of 26–34 kDa, which facilitate water flux across cellular membranes in a large diversity of organisms [1]. As the passive flux of water is driven by the osmotic gradient, aquaporins play a crucial role for osmoregulation in many tissues [2]. Defects in human aquaporin functions are associated with common diseases,



Review



CrossMark

Abbreviations: AQP0–12, aquaporins 0–12; ar/R, aromatic/arginine; CD, Circular Dichroism; CPK, Corey, Pauling, Koltun space-filling models; DMPC, 1,2-dimyristoyl-*sn*-glycero-3-phosphocholine; EC, extracellular; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; ERAD, ER-associated degradation; GlpF, glycerol facilitator; IC, intracellular; MD, molecular dynamics; MIM, Major Intrinsic Protein; PIP, Plasma Membrane Intrinsic Proteins; SF, Selectivity Filter; TM, transmembrane; wt, wild-type

^{*} Corresponding author at: Johannes Gutenberg-Universität, Institut für Pharmazie und Biochemie, Johann-Joachim-Becher-Weg 30, 55128 Mainz, Germany. Tel.: +49 6131/39 25833; fax: +49 6131/39 25348.

Table 1Aqua(glycero)porins with solved structures.

Protein name	Organism	Resolution	PDB-file	Reference
AQP0	Bovine lens	2.24 Å	1YMG	[114]
AQPO	Ovis aries	3.0 Å	1SOR	[118]
	Sheep lens			
AQP1	Homo sapiens rbc	3.8 Å	1FQY	[146]
AQP1	Bos taurus	2.20 Å	1J4N	[40]
AQP2	Homo sapiens	2.75 Å	4NEF	[147]
AQP4	Rattus norvegicus	3.2 Å	2D57	[148]
AQP4	Homo sapiens	1.8 Å	3GD8	[149]
AQP5 (HSAQP5)	Homo sapiens	2.0 Å	3D9S	[150]
AQPM	Methanothermobacter marburgensis	1.68 Å	2F2B	[151]
AQPZ	Escherichia coli	2.5 Å	1RC2	[41]
SOPIP2;1	Spinacia oleracea	2.10 Å	1Z98	[56]
GLPF	Escherichia coli	2.2 Å	1FX8	[23]
PFAQP	Plasmodium falciparum	2.05 Å	3C02	[152]
AQY1	Pischia pastoris	1.15 Å	2W2E	[153]

such as *nephrogenic diabetes insipidus*, *congenital cataract* and certain types of cancer [3–10]. Although selectively facilitating water flux across membranes is the major physiological function of aquaporins, some family members are also permeable to other molecules, such as urea, nitrate and silicon, to gases such as ammonia, carbon dioxide and nitrogen dioxide and to metalloids, such as arsenic and antimony [1,11–14]. Furthermore, there is also evidence that the human aquaporin AQP1 is permeable to gaseous CO_2 [15], and the gas-conducting channel is postulated to form in the center of an AQP1 tetramer.

Aquaporins are categorized into three subfamilies, based on the conservation of the amino acids flanking two conserved amino acid motifs (NPA motifs) [16,17]. In humans, the classical aquaporins (AQP0, AQP1, AQP2, AQP4, AQP5, AQP6 and AQP8) are only permeable to water, whereas members of the subfamily of aquaglyceroporins (AQP3, AQP7, AQP9 and AQP10) are additionally permeable to glycerol and other small, polar solutes [13,17-19]. AQP11 and AQP12 are categorized as "unorthodox aquaporins", as they do not share a high sequence identity around the conserved NPA motifs, as common for classical aquaporins and aquaglyceroporins (see below). Although AQP1, which is found in erythrocyte membranes and various tissues including the kidney, lung, vascular endothelium, brain and eye, was the first aquaporin to be characterized in 1992 [20-22], the glycerol facilitator GlpF of the bacterium Escherichia coli (E. coli) is thus far the best studied member of the aquaporin family. GlpF has served as an experimentally accessible aquaporin model for many years, and the GlpF crystal structure was solved more than a decade ago [23]. The protein consists of 281 amino acids and has a molecular mass of 28 kDa. Besides glycerol and other linear polyalcohols it facilitates the flux of urea and antimony-(III)-hydroxide across membranes, whereas sugars are not GlpF substrates. Despite the fact that GlpF was crystallized as a homo-tetramer [23], the oligomeric state of GlpF was the topic of many controversial discussions during the past decade [24–28]. However, by now it is commonly accepted that GlpF forms stable tetramers, which are even highly stable in detergent solutions.

2. The conserved structure of aqua(glycero)porins

In recent years, several structures of aquaporins have been solved, and crystal structures of 14 aquaporins and aquaglyceroporins from 9 different organisms have been published with resolutions varying between 0.88 Å and 3.8 Å (Table 1). Importantly, the overall structures of all aqua(glycero)porins are essentially identical, regardless of the subfamily or the host organism.

An aqua(glycero)porin monomer consists of a total of six TM helices and two reentry loops, which both form a half-spanning helix (Fig. 1A). These half-TM helices, which both contain the highly conserved NPA motif at their individual N-termini, align lengthwise and in this way span the membrane with a helical structure. The eight helices together form a right-handed helix bundle with the channel pore in its center (Fig. 1B), and the overall structure of an aqua(glycero)porin monomer is reminiscent of an hourglass (Fig. 2A) [29]. In the following, we will refer to the helices according to their consecutive number, including both half-spanning helices rather than numbering only the TM helices.

All aquaporin monomers comprise two subdomains with 3.5 TM segments, each with the same tertiary fold but oriented in the membrane at a 180° angle (Fig. 1A). The inverted repeat structure places both the N- and C-termini of the proteins in the cytoplasm [30] and is a common theme among helical bundle membrane proteins [31]. It provides the protein with an internal "quasi-symmetry" with a twofold pseudo axis of rotation. This internal tandem repeat is conserved among all aqua(glycero)porins and probably reflects the evolution of the aquaporins: during the course of evolution a primordial precursor gene likely coded for a protein with dual TM topology, and thus aquaporin precursor proteins were protein dimers [32]. After gene duplication, the individual subdomains evolved separately and eventually fused, resulting in the aquaporin genes/proteins found today. Noteworthy, although characteristic for all aqua(glycero)porins, there are further proteins with an aquaporin fold, albeit they do not belong to the aquaporin family. Prominent examples are the formate channel FocA [33–35] and the nitrite channel NirC [36].

Like many other α -helical TM proteins, aquaporins assemble within biological membranes and form higher ordered oligomers. For a long time it was assumed that all classical aquaporins form homo-tetramers while all aquaglyceroporins are active as monomers [24–27]. In later studies, however, it was found that aquaglyceroporins, too, are present as homo-tetramers in biological membranes, but that their protomer– protomer association seems to be weaker than what is observed in canonical aquaporins [28,37–39].



Fig. 1. Aquaporin topology. (A) Indicated in blue and green are the two inverted repeat subdomains found in an aquaporin monomer. Each subdomain consists of three TM helices (1, 2, 4 and 5, 6, 8) and one half-spanning helix (3 and 7), and the two subdomains are orientated in a 180° angle in the membrane. TM helices are connected *via* five extra- and intracellular loops (A–E). Loops B and E contain the two half-spanning helices (3 and 7) with the highly conserved NPA motifs at the interface. (B) GlpF crystal structure (PDB ID: 1FX8) [23]. Periplasmic view on the native tetrameric GlpF structure. The substrate conducting channel is located within each monomer. IC = intracellular and EC = extracellular.



Fig. 2. Structural basis of substrate specificity. (A) A ribbon representation of a GlpF monomer secondary structure. N indicates the amino terminus at the bottom right and C is the carboxyl terminus at the bottom left. Residues 68–78 of the amino terminal half-spanning helix (ribbon) and the NPA motif (CPK) are colored in bright blue and residues 203–217 of the carboxy-terminal half-spanning helix (ribbon) and the NPA motif (CPK) are colored in bright blue and residues 203–217 of the carboxy-terminal half-spanning helix (ribbon) and the NPA motif (CPK) are colored in bright blue and residues 203–217 of the carboxy-terminal half-spanning helix (ribbon) and the NPA motif (CPK) are colored in bright green, except for Arg206 of the ar/R SF, which is colored red (CPK). (B) A surface representation of a GlpF monomer using a 1.4 Å probe. The double-headed arrow indicates an approximate 15 Å wide funnel that narrows to 3.4 Å at the SF. The view is of the GlpF vestibule looking down on the extracellular surface. Glycerol molecules are gradually dehydrated through interactions with the protein. The images were made using VMD (developed with NIH support by the Theoretical and Computational Biophysics group at the Beckman Institute, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign), DS ViewerPro and PDB ID: 1FX8 from [23].

3. Substrate specificity and protein dynamics

The substrate specificity of aqua(glycero)porins is determined principally by an aromatic/arginine (ar/R) selectivity filter (SF) (Fig. 2A) that sits at the bottom of a 15 Å-wide vestibule above the extracellular pore entrance (Fig. 2B). The SF forms the narrowest part of the channel, and in classical aquaporins the width of the filter is 2.8 Å, just wide enough to accept a water molecule [40,41]. In GlpF, the filter widens to 3.4 Å to accommodate a CHOH group from dehydrated glycerol or other linear polyalcohols [42], but sugars are much too large to enter [23]. The pore dimensions should easily permit hydroxide ions, hydronium ions and protons to cross the membrane, yet nearly all aqua(glycero)porins are highly selective against the passage of these ions.

In addition to dimensional filtering, the ar/R SF also provides chemical filtering. In the human AQP1, the SF selects for water by providing two H-bond donors (Arg227) and two acceptors (His212, and Ala221) that satisfy all four H-bonding sites in a water molecule [43] (Fig. 3A). Hydroxide ions are selected against water molecules because they cannot H-bond simultaneously with Ala221 and His212 [43]. In a similar fashion, the GlpF SF selects for glycerol using the homologous Arg206 to donate H-bonds to the O1 and O2 glycerol oxygens; Gly199 accepts an H-bond from O1 and Phe200 accepts an H-bond from O2 (Fig. 3B).



Fig. 3. H-bonding in the Specificity Filter. (A) Protein H-bond donors and acceptors in the AQP1 SF are illustrated. The figure is based on a snapshot from a MD simulation of AQP1 [43] and shows how the protein can satisfy all four H-bonding sites in a water molecule. The H-bond angles are not ideal, ensuring that water does not get trapped in the channel but transits rapidly [43]. (B) H-bond donors and acceptors to glycerol in the SF of GlpF are illustrated based on the X-ray diffraction structure [23]. Arg206 donates H-bonds to the 01 and 02 glycerol oxygens, Gly199 accepts an H-bond from 01, and Phe200 accepts an H-bond from O2. H-bonds from Ala201 and Trp48 to the O3 and 01 of glycerol respectively, are mediated by a water molecule [23]. Trp48 and Phe200 aromatic rings provide a hydrophobic corner to interact with the C-H groups from glycerol (see Fig. 4). The images were made using *ChemDoodle*: Chemical Publishing Software (Version 6.0.1).

H-bonds from Ala201 and Trp48 to the O1 and O3 of glycerol, respectively, are mediated by a water molecule [23]. In GlpF, the SF is amphipathic and the Trp48 and Phe200 aromatic rings provide a hydrophobic corner to interact with the C–H groups from glycerol (Fig. 4).

A third component of the filter is the concentration of positive electrostatic potential that is maximal at the center of the channel [43]. This receives contributions both from the arginine in the ar/R SF [44] and from the two half-spanning helices (3 and 7) that point the positive (amino) ends of their helical macrodipoles at the center of the channel (Fig. 2A) [45]. Molecular dynamics (MD) simulations of both AQP1 and GlpF suggest that proton transport by the Grotthuss mechanism, whereby protons tunnel between H-bonded water molecules, is inhibited predominantly by the large electrostatic barrier (105 kJ/mol) [46] focused on the NPA region. Mutations of the arginine in the SF appear to confirm this hypothesis [44]. Desolvation penalties and configurational barriers also contribute to substrate specificity. Water and glycerol move through the channel pore in a single-file column. As water and glycerol penetrate their respective pores, solvent substrate H-bonds are replaced by channel substrate H-bonds lowering the energy barrier to transport and enabling extremely rapid (ns) transport rates [47]. Protons, hydronium ions and hydroxide ions in the channel are energetically destabilized compared to bulk solvent, because desolvation is not compensated by interactions with the channel wall [46,47]. This is especially pronounced in glycerol channels; they select against hydroxide, hydronium and other ions, and even water, because hydration shell removal cannot be compensated for on the hydrophobic wall of the channel [23] (Fig. 4). A recent 20 ns MD simulation based on a 0.88 Å-resolution X-ray diffraction structure of AQP1 showed water molecules moving in pairs through the SF and the cytoplasmic half of the channel, whereas in the NPA region the correlated motion is highly perturbed owing to interactions with the protein [43]. This result confirmed several earlier MD simulations [48,49] suggesting that Grotthuss proton transport is



Fig. 4. The amphipathic GlpF pore. Non-polar side-chains that line one face of the GlpF pore and interact with glycerol C–H groups are colored blue. They include Trp48, Val52, Leu67, Leu159, Ile187 and Phe200. Polar side-chains on the opposite face are colored red and include His66, Asn68, Gly199, Phe200, Ala201, and Arg206. Depicted is also a glycerol passing the translocation pore. The view is looking downward onto the periplasmic surface of a monomer. The image was made using the DS ViewerPro software and PDB ID: 1FX8 from [23].

at least partly inhibited owing to the bipolar orientation of the water molecules in the channel above and below the NPA motifs.

Although there is significant agreement as to the factors that contribute to substrate selectivity in aqua(glycero)porins, further biochemical support is needed [46]. For example, measurements of *in vivo, in vitro* and *in silico* substrate flow for selected mutants, designed to inhibit or enhance flow, could contribute significantly to our understanding of how these extraordinary proteins carry out their biological activities [44,45]. This view is supported by an emerging area of research involving putative "dual substrate" aquaporins that transport water or glycerol and also serve as gated ion channels, as has been observed in some aqua(glycero)porin channels (*e.g.* AQP0, 1, 6 and plant aquaporins) under physiological and non-physiological conditions [50].

It is well established that protein dynamics play a key role in the expression of the biological activity of proteins including membrane proteins [51]. With the caveat that X-ray diffraction temperature B-factors may greatly underestimate the conformational heterogeneity of proteins [52], in general, low temperature B-factors suggest that the aqua(glycero)porins are conformationally rigid throughout their structures [53]. Large-scale dynamic fluctuations in the dimensions of the pore would presumably permit a wider range of substrate sizes to cross the membrane, suggesting that the protein in its native membrane is relatively inflexible. However, an early nanosecond MD simulation of GlpF showed that the pore narrowed upon the removal of glycerol, suggesting an "induced-fit" mechanism by which the pore widens in response to interactions with glycerol [48]. An emerging area of interest is the regulation of substrate flow in some aqua(glycero)porins, and this has recently been reviewed [54]. The most convincing physiological evidence for regulated gating is the channel closure that occurs in plant aquaporins (Plasma Membrane Intrinsic Proteins, PIP) upon serine dephosphorylation, pH drop or addition of calcium ions [55]. High-resolution X-ray diffraction structures [56] of open and closed PIP channels show a slightly longer loop D (Fig. 1A) that moves by up to 16 Å occluding the channel on the cytoplasmic side of the protein. MD simulations show that much of the conformational change, including expansion and contraction of the channel pores, occurs within 15 ns. Another example is the allosteric regulation of AQP0 by Ca²⁺-calmodulin. This is the first example, in which the role of the tetramer has been shown to provide a scaffold for communication between the protomers of the tetramer [57]. Regulation of other aqua(glycero)porins is an active area of research but has been difficult to confirm [54].

Of considerable interest to aqua(glycero)porin folding and function was a hydrogen-deuterium exchange study of detergent-solubilized GlpF [58] that showed residues in half-spanning helix 7 undergoing a much more rapid exchange than in the rest of the protein. It was suggested that flexibility in this region might be important in permitting rapid substrate flux by a "molecular lubrication" mechanism; the rapid dynamics in this region were confirmed by oxidative labeling experiments [58]. However, it will be crucial to determine whether this region is also flexible in a lipid bilayer or in vivo. Ten nanosecond MD simulations of GlpF in octylglucoside micelles and 1,2-dimyristoyl-snglycero-3-phosphocholine (DMPC) bilayers showed a significantly greater loop and helix motion in the detergent-solubilized protein compared to the bilayer-embedded protein [59], although in general the structures remained intact over the course of the simulations. The nanosecond MD data do not contradict the hydrogen exchange measurements since hydrogen exchange is sensitive to protein dynamics on the microsecond and slower timescale. In AQP1 it has been proposed that the half-spanning helix 3 can slide out of the membrane and this has been suggested as an important step in the assembly of the folded protein [60]. Although, there is a paucity of experimentally determined high-resolution dynamics studies of membrane proteins, recent hardware and algorithm advances in MD simulations in bilayers promise to shed light on the long-term MD of these proteins and their role in aqua(glycero)porin folding and function [61,62].

4. Folding of aquaporins

4.1. The GlpF monomer folds in multiple stages

The folding pathway of aquaporins has been the topic of several studies in recent years. Surprisingly, these studies revealed that a conserved protein structure does not guarantee an identical folding pathway. While the folding pathway of human AQP4, a water channel expressed in astrocytes [63], and probably of most of the other aquaporins, is entirely co-translational, AQP1 folding is more complex and involves co- as well as post-translational steps and even includes reorientation of α -helices across the cellular membrane [64–66]. However, a study of AQP1 biogenesis in intact mammalian cells also revealed a completely co-translational folding pathway and it has been suggested that weak signal anchor and stop transfer activities within the protein can be compensated in a natural environment, whereas artificial surroundings might trigger initial misfolding [67]. In general, aquaporin folding pathways appear to exceed formerly proposed two- and three-stage pathways by far [68–70].

While the oligomeric state and the in vivo or in vitro stability of GlpF have been analyzed to some extent, little is known about folding of the monomeric protein. In line with the two-stage model of membrane protein folding [68,69], the calculated free energies of transfer of all six GlpF TM helices suggest that all TM helices can insert independently into the membrane bilayer and can (conceptually) be described as stable TM helices, which might only be loosely connected via interhelical loops or linker regions. The two reentrant half-spanning helices 3 and 7 very likely insert into the membrane only at a later stage. This is supported by the protein's overall topology, as TM helices 2 and 4 as well as TM helices 6 and 8 show an antiparallel orientation and the half-helices could barely act as a stop-transfer signal anchor during the translocation process. Either after or even already during their synthesis and membrane release, individual TM helices will interact to form higher ordered TM helix structures [71]. Especially interactions between the parallel TM helices 1 and 4 and TM helices 5 and 8, as well as interactions between the antiparallel TM helices 2 and 6 are notable. All of these TM helices contain common interaction motifs, such as GxxxA or SxxxGxxxA, and TM helix 8 even contains a perfect glycine zipper motif GxxxGxxxG [72]. In addition to close van der Waals packing interactions mediated by these motifs, the helix dimers are thought to be stabilized by C α -H \cdot O H-bonds, which are established between the noted helix pairs [73].

As already mentioned above, all aquaporins and aquaglyceroporins show two inverted repeat subdomains. These pseudo-symmetric protein halves show homology in their overall structure and have a high sequence similarity. It appears reasonable to assume an analogous folding pathway with a still retained independent folding capability of the two homologous GlpF protein halves. This implies that helices of the same GlpF subdomain interact before helices, belonging to different subdomains (Fig. 5). Interactions between the parallel helices (TM helices 1 + 4 and 5 + 8) are crucial for folding of the respective GlpF subdomains, while the antiparallel interaction between TM helices 2 and 6 connects the two subdomains (Fig. 5). When a nascent polypeptide chain is inserted into the membrane, the TM helices of the first repetitive unit, i.e. TM helices 1, 2 and 4, are the first helices able to interact. In the fully folded monomer, helices 1 and 4, as well as the corresponding helices 5 and 8 of the second subdomain, lie in close contact. According to this proposal, (parallel) packing of helices of a subdomain takes place before helices of different subdomains interact. Interaction of the two antiparallel subdomains is subsequently mediated by interaction of TM helices 2 and 6, involving six putative H-bonds [73]. Therefore, initial folding of individual GlpF subdomains would be a defined stage in an overall GlpF folding pathway.

However, it is still unclear at what stage exactly and in which way the reentrant loops are inserted into the membrane. These half-helices are important both for the structure and function of GlpF, as they



Fig. 5. GlpF folding in multiple steps. Helices are highlighted in different colors. In stage one, helices are inserted independently into the membrane bilayers in an initial six-spanning topology. In a second stage, helices of one GlpF subdomain interact before the inverted repeat subdomains interact with each other in a third stage. Folding of GlpF is completed following membrane integration of the reentrant loops in stage four. Stage five depicts the interaction of two monomers forming a dimer. From then on, two routes are possible. Tetramerization can occur either in one step by dimerization of two GlpF dimers or by sequential addition of two GlpF monomers, involving a trimeric state.

contain the highly conserved NPA motifs. As several charged residues are incorporated in both half-helices and as these residues are located at the center of the GlpF monomer within the membrane plane, formation of these half-helices very likely occurs rather late in the folding pathway, after the full TM helices have interacted with one another and have formed an environment that allows formation and integration of the (polar) half-helices [69]. Noteworthy, the TM conformation of the initially formed TM helix bundle might differ from the finally folded GlpF monomer. After folding of the monomer, successive steps lead to the final tetrameric GlpF structure (see below).

4.2. Oligomerization is crucial for the GlpF function and stability

Ever since its discovery, GlpF has served as a model protein for studying membrane protein folding and assembly, and based on its features and characteristics, several studies on folding and assembly of higher ordered membrane proteins have been performed [28,37,74, 75]. Especially its stability during SDS-PAGE, where it maintains its tetrameric structure [28], has proven to be of great advantage. The stabilities of other aquaporins have already been analyzed to some extent before [76,77], although details of their folding and oligomerization mechanisms still remain mainly enigmatic. In addition to classical aquaporins and glycerol facilitators, many other membrane proteins, too, exist in higher ordered oligomeric structures. In some cases the necessity for oligomerization is clear, as in the case of the potassium channel KcsA or the acetylcholine receptor, where the central pore lies within the oligomer [78–83]. In contrast to such obligate oligomers, the benefits of oligomerization are less clear for other proteins, such as aquaporins and ammonia transporters [83]. Generally, larger proteins are more resistant to denaturation and degradation than smaller proteins [84], suggesting that aquaporin oligomers may form to stabilize the tertiary fold, preventing aggregation and stabilizing the conformation that permits strict substrate selectivity.

Until recently, no information was available about homo-tetramer formation and about the forces and factors that drive oligomerization and further stabilize the assembled state. In addition to the aforementioned folding stages, GlpF tetramerization and assembly can be seen as a separate folding stage, which itself might involve multiple steps.

The crystal structure of the tetrameric GlpF complex revealed two Mg²⁺ ions bound in the central pore of the GlpF tetramer, which are coordinated by residues Trp42 or Glu43 of all GlpF monomers [23]. It is assumed that these ions are not naturally located in the tetramer center of GlpF but are rather the result of the applied crystallization method. In fact, the Mg²⁺ ions are dispensable for *in vitro* tetramerization [28]. In order to assess whether the coordinating residues are somehow crucial for GlpF oligomerization or for stabilization of the protein complex, the oligomeric states of GlpF mutants with substituted residues Trp42 and Glu43 were analyzed [74]. While mutating the Trp residue at position 42 to Ala did not affect oligomerization, a mutation of the neighboring Glu residue to Ala significantly disturbed GlpF oligomerization. In contrast to the wild-type (wt) protein, the E43A mutant appeared mainly as a monomeric protein on SDS gels, and a decreased oligomerization propensity was also observed in vivo, using a genetic system [85]. Thus, in contrast to Trp42, the polar residue Glu43 appears to be critical for tetramer assembly. In fact, not an Asp residue per se, but a charged or at least a highly polar residue is required at position 43 to ensure proper GlpF tetramerization [74]. Furthermore, the activity of the E43A mutant was ~30% decreased compared to the wt protein, indicating that oligomerization and function of GlpF are ultimately linked. This is probably caused by slight changes in the tertiary structure upon tetramerization, which potentially render the protein fully active. Furthermore, the ΔG_{app} values of wt GlpF and E43A mutant oligomerization were calculated and it was found that the mutation destabilizes the protein tetramer by ~7 kJ/mol [74]. This destabilization also resulted in a reduced in vivo stability of the GlpF monomer, which was degraded much faster by cellular proteases and therefore has a much shorter half-life than native, tetrameric GlpF [74]. A higher susceptibility to degradation might also be indicated by an analysis of the B-factor values [86], which are low at the protomer-protomer interfaces, indicating high rigidity [83]. Protomer dissociation weakens the rigidity of the GlpF monomer in the interface region and leads to exposure of flexible parts, which correlates with a decreased *in vivo* stability. The two helices facing the center of the GlpF tetramer, TM helices 2 and 6, are also less hydrophobic than the helices, which contact the lipid environment. An exposure of these more hydrophilic regions to the hydrophobic membrane milieu upon dissociation, too, might account for the increased turnover rate. Thus, besides being crucial for optimal activity, oligomerization affects protein stability and proteolytic degradation.

Noteworthy, one further reason for oligomerization – at least in the case of some aquaporins – could be the formation of an additional pore in the center of the homo-tetramer, as discussed for human AQP1 and the tobacco aquaporin NtAQP1 [15,87].

4.3. GlpF unfolding involves multiple structural transitions

Subsequent to the survey of residues affecting GlpF oligomerization, the formation of GlpF homo-tetramers was analyzed via an in vitro unfolding assay [75]. Based on experiments in which GlpF was unfolded stepwise, GlpF appears to unfold in a two-step process, which involves an equilibrium of a tetrameric, a dimeric and a monomeric GlpF state. Semi-native SDS-PAGE analyses illustrated the transition from the GlpF tetramer to the monomer. With increasing SDS mole fractions, the intensity of the tetramer band decreased and eventually vanished completely while the protein band corresponding to the GlpF dimer first increased and then decreased again. The intensity of the monomer band reached its maximum at the highest SDS mole fractions, and together these data support a three-state unfolding mechanism. In addition, gel filtration of partly SDS-unfolded GlpF reinforced the SDS-PAGE results. Having a stable dimeric intermediate along the unfolding pathway suggests that at least two phases are involved in GlpF unfolding and the GlpF tetramer forms as a dimer of dimers [75]. Native tetrameric GlpF was purified and after incorporation into DDM micelles, addition of SDS led to the formation of mixed micelles with defined mole fractions. Although the GlpF tetramer is stable and retains its native structure on SDS-PAGE gels [28,74], addition of increasing SDSconcentrations unfolds the protein at least partially. Elevated mole fractions of SDS induce protomer-protomer as well as helix-helix dissociation, resulting in progressive GlpF unfolding. Importantly, after diluting out the SDS, the tetrameric GlpF state could be retrieved. Unfolding under equilibrium conditions was followed by CD and Trp fluorescence spectroscopy. The spectroscopic data suggested that unfolding of GlpF involves multiple transitions. The free energy of GlpF unfolding was determined to be 68.6 kJ/mol, a value that is comparable to other membrane proteins [88–91]. Using CD spectroscopy, two transitions with midpoints at ~0.22 and 0.62 mole fractions of SDS were observed, whereas two transitions with midpoints at ~0.35 and ~0.8 were observed when SDS-induced unfolding was followed by Trp fluorescence spectroscopy (Fig. 6). As the SDS-PAGE analysis had revealed that the tetramer to monomer dissociation has also a transition midpoint at ~0.8, the change observed by Trp fluorescence spectroscopy might represent dissociation of the tetramer. Thus, the tetramer is a rather stable structure and partial unfolding of the protomers appears to precede tetramer dissociation (Fig. 6). Unfortunately, the dimeric GlpF state seen on SDS-PAGE gels could not be clearly linked to any of the spectroscopically observed unfolding intermediates. The dimeric folding intermediate was found to structurally differ, both from the native tetrameric state and the monomer, by having a reduced level of tertiary structure with a looser helix packing but with mostly conserved secondary structure, reminiscent of a molten globule state found in the folding pathway of soluble proteins [75]. This finding, again, demonstrates that an oligomeric state is beneficial for the GlpF stability and function. A potential folding pathway, derived from the spectroscopic and SDS-PAGE analysis, is presented in Fig. 5. However, unfolding of GlpF by heat or urea treatment led to the observation of both, dimeric and trimeric states in SDS-PAGE analyses [28]. These findings strongly suggest that the unfolding pathway depends on the *in vitro* conditions and a sequential GlpF unfolding pathway might involve a GlpF trimer. Assuming both trimer and dimer as true (un)folding intermediates implies that tetramerization



Fig. 6. Transitions during SDS-induced unfolding of GlpF. Partial unfolding of the GlpF individual monomers precedes dissociation of the GlpF tetramers, as observed *via* CD and Trp fluorescence spectroscopy as well as by SDS-PAGE analysis. The mole fractions SDS of the respective transition points from one to the next folding intermediate are given.

occurs *via* consecutive addition of single monomers to growing GlpF oligomers (Fig. 5). Together, these results suggest that the tetrameric state is beneficial for the GlpF stability and function.

4.4. Folding of GlpF in multiple steps

Based on the above presented and discussed observations and considerations, folding of GlpF can be described to involve multiple steps, at least conceptually (Fig. 5). After membrane insertion of individually stable TM helices (Step 1), the two homologous GlpF subdomains assemble (Step 2), and interactions of TM helices 1 + 4 or 5 + 8, respectively, are crucial for subdomain assembly. After pre-assembly of the two subdomains, interactions between TM helices 2 and 6 mediate formation of the complete TM helix structure (Step 3), which provides the structural environment for membrane entry of the half-spanning helices and thus for formation of a discontinuous TM helix formed by helices 3 and 7 (Step 4). Thereafter, folded protomers interact to form the oligomeric GlpF structure, and protomer-protomer interactions might induce further structural rearrangements within a monomer. Oligomerization either takes place *via* capturing individual protomers, and thus via a progressive growth of the GlpF oligomer (Steps 5, 6, 7), or alternatively, GlpF dimers form and subsequently interact to form the tetrameric structure (Steps 5, 7).

5. Mutations affect the structure and function of human aquaporins

Thirteen aquaporins (AQP0–12) consisting of 261–342 amino acids are expressed in various human tissues where they facilitate the bidirectional flux of water and small polar solutes across cellular membranes. Studies with AQP knockout mice have been particularly helpful in revealing a diverse involvement of human aquaporins in physiological processes, such as the epithelial fluid transport, tumor angiogenesis, cell migration and brain edema [92]. Currently, structures of several aquaporins have been solved, including the human AQP1, AQP4, AQP5 and bovine AQP0 as well as the two bacterial aquaporins AqpZ and GlpF (Table 1).

Several variations in the aquaporin-encoding genes have been identified in human genomes (Fig. 7). Considering the diverse physiological functions of human aquaporins, it is not surprising that single amino acid exchanges can cause severe human diseases. As distinct amino acids define the translocation pore at the center of an AQP channel and establish the selectivity of substrate conductance, direct implications of amino acid substitutions on AQP activity are possible. Indeed, this has been observed in case of the human AQP5, where changes in the pore residues, including the arginine residue of the Ar/R filter, are implicated in diffuse *nonepidermolytic palmoplantar keratoderma* [93]. However, variations in the amino acid composition are generally more

	H1 H2	
GLPF	MSASF G-QWEISVIWGLGVAMAIYLTA GVSGAHL	67
AQP3	MGRQKELVSRCGEMLHIRYRLLRQALAECLGTLILVMFGCGSVAQVVLSRGTHGGFLTINLAFGFAVTLGILIAGQVSGAHL	82
AQP7	MVQASGHRRSTRGSKMVSWSVIAKIQEILQRKMVREFLAEFMSTYVMMVFGLGSVAHMVLNKKYGSYLGVNLGFGFGVTMGVHVAGRISGAHM	93
AQP9	MQPEGAEKGKSFKQRLVLKSSLAKETLSEFLGTFILIVLGCGCVAQAILSRGRFGGVITINVGFSMAVAMAIYVAGGVSGGHI	83
AOP10	MVFTOAPAEIMGHLRIRSLLAROCLAEFLGVFVIMLLTOGAVAOAVTSGETKGNFFTMFLAGSLAVTIAIYVGGNVSGAHL	81
~		
AOPO	PGPLHVLOVAMAFGLALATIVOAVGHISGAHV	67
AOP1	MASEFKKKLFWRAVVAEFLATTLFVFISIGSALGFKYPVGNNOTAVODNVKVSLAFGLSIATLAOSVGHISGAHL	75
AOP2	OALPSVLOIAMAFGLGIGILVOALGHISGAHI	67
AOP4	-MSDRPTARRWGKCGPLCTRENIMVAFKGVWTOAFWKAVTAEFLAMLIFVLLSLGSTINWGGTEKPLPVDMVLISLCFGLSIATMVOCFGHISGGHI	96
AOP5	SALPTILOTALAFGLAIGTLAOALGPVSGGHI	68
AOP6	MDAVEPGGRGWASMLACRLWKAISRALFAEFLATGLYVFFGVGSVMRWPTALPSVLOIAITFNLVTAMAVOVTWKASGAHA	81
AOP8	-MSGEIAMCEPEFGNDKAREPSVGGRWRVSWYERFVOPCLVELLGSALFIFIGCLSVIENGTDTGLLOPALAHGLALGLVIATLGNISGGHF	91
	· * · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
GLPF	NPAUTALNULFACEDREKUT PETUSOVAGAECAAALVYGLYYNLEEDEROTHH IVRGSVESUDLAGTESTYPNPH INFYOAFAVEMUTTATIMGLILALT	167
AOP3	NDAVTFAMORIAREDWIKLDIYTIAOTICAFICACIVECIVYDA IWHEDDIOLEVSCADAC	179
AOP7		190
AOP9		180
AOD10		179
AQLIO	MEN STREET AGY FAN AND FILLEN AND SECONDALL AND	1/0
AOPO	NDAUTE A FUNCSOMST. I. R. FOYMA A OLI CAVACA AVI. Y SUPPAVR	149
AOP1		157
AOP2		149
AOD/		179
AOP5		150
AOPE		163
AOPS		176
AQLO		110
CIDE	DO DO NOVDO DI A DI LOLI LA VICA SUCOI DE DE ANIZADO E CONVERSI A CUCAVA E CODI DE LO DI CONVERSI A CUCAVA E A VOLI LO UL DO DI CUVE	267
JOD3	DDGNGVERGELAFILDILDILTAV LOGANGELIGERAVIANDA DEGADI EMALAGNGNVAFIGGADI FIFLVEGEGEVGALVGARAIKALIGANDECDEVGALVA	201
AQFJ		270
AQP /	DQENNERLEGIELDIGILVIIGILVIIGILAVIIGIAINEGILIGIAINEENLEELIITAGUGAQVISNGE-NWWWYVVALUGAINGGIILUVIIGSIIEVEL	200
AQP9	DSRNLGHRAGLEPIALGILIIVIASSIGLANARAULSPRLFIALAGWGEVFRAGN-NFWWIPVGEVGAVIGGLIVJVELHHPE-PDSVF	277
AQPIU	DRRING V PAGLEPVVVGALI LALGLSMGANCGI PINPARDLGPRLFI I VAGWGPEVFSAGNGWWWVPVVAPLVGATVGTATIQLLVALHPEGPEPAQ	210
AODO		225
AQPU AQPU	D-ERRNGUESVALAVGETSLALGELIFGMTIIGGAGNAPARSTAPAILITGNETNHWYIWGPIIGGLGSLLIDFLLEPELLSIESELS	235
AODO	D - RED CONCERNS OF DECISION OF THE STATE OF	243
AQPZ	P-ERKOENFGITALSIG SVALGELLGINI TOGSIN MAKSLEPAVIGARD	230
AQP4	D-SARIWIGSIALAIGESVALGALFAINITGASMNPAKSEGPAUINGNWENHWIIWVGPIIGAVLAGGIYEYVECPDVEFKRKEKE	204
AQP5	D-SKRISPYGSKALSIGLSVILGELVGIIIFIGCSNIPARSFGPAVMNGFSPAHWYFWCPIVGAVLAAILYFYLLFPNSLSLSERVA	231
AQPO	D-SKUIS-GSPATMIGISVALGHLIGHFIGGSMNPAKSFGPAIIIGKFIVHWVFWVGPLMGALLASLIVNFVLFPDTKTLAQRLA	24/
AQP8	INEKIKGP-LAPFSIGAVIVDILAGGPVSGGCMNPARAFGPAVVANHWNFHWIXWLGPLLAGLLVGLLIRCFIGDGKTRLILKAR	261
	• * * • * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	

Fig. 7. Sequence alignment of GlpF and the classical human aquaporins and aquaglyceroporins. A multiple sequence alignment was prepared using CLUSTAL 2.1 (http://www.ebi.ac.uk/ Tools/msa/clustalw2/). For clarity, the last C-terminal amino acids of the different aquaporins are not depicted. One dot highlights conserved residues, two dots highly conserved residues and a star indicates identical residues. Annotation of TM segments has been performed *via* UniProtKB. The annotation is either experimentally proven (GlpF, AQP0, 1, 2, 4, 5) or has been predicted by UniProtKB applying predictive tools such as TMHMM, Memsat, Phobius, the hydrophobic moment plot of Eisenberg and co-workers and the ΔG_{app} prediction server v1.0 (AQP3, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10). TM segments are highlighted in bold. The highly conserved NPA motifs in the aquaporins sequences are highlighted by a red frame. Residues found to be substituted as a consequence of missense mutations in the various AQP genes have been highlighted with respect to their conservation. Highlighted in light gray are single amino acid substitutions, affecting non-conserved residues, in yellow highly conserved residues between GlpF and the classical aquaporins as well as the aquaglyceroporins, in green residues highly conserved between GlpF and aquaglyceroporins and in blue highly conserved residues within the classical aquaporins. Information about the missense mutations was obtained from the following sources ([133], additionally AQP0 [144], AQP2 [144], AQP5 [93], AQP7 [126], AQP8 [141]). often associated with protein misfolding and misassembly than with direct alteration of protein activity [94,95]. Misfolded AQPs eventually accumulate in the ER membrane, as shown for AQPO and AQP2 mutants [96–99]. However, it is worth mentioning that, besides improper cellular targeting and ER-retention, mutated AQPs might be functional, and impaired trafficking, rather than malfunctioning, causes an associated disease (nephrogenic diabetes insipidus in case of AQP2) [96]. Misfolded and ER-retained proteins are degraded by the ER-associated degradation (ERAD) pathways, and once the mutated proteins are exported into the cytosol, the ubiquitinated proteins are finally degraded by the proteasome [100,101]. Consequently, degradation of some AQP2 mutants remained unaffected by inhibitors of downstream vesicle trafficking and lysosomal proteases [96]. However, other AQP2 mutants, which cause dominant nephrogenic diabetes insipidus, form together with the wild-type AQP2 monomers hetero-tetrameric assemblies within the Golgi stacks [102], and from here these proteins are routed to lysosomes for degradation [103]. Both, lysosomal as well as proteosomal protein degradation, are involved in degradation of properly processed wild-type AOPs [104–109], and both appear to be important for regulating the AQP level in a membrane [110,111]. Thus, ERAD and the lysosome can be involved in degradation of unstable or misfolded AQPs.

While it is becoming increasingly clear that the lipid bilayer environment is important for proper folding, assembly and the activity of membrane proteins [112,113], correct folding of α -helical membrane proteins strongly depends on TM helix–helix interactions, which are determined by the amino acid sequence of interacting TM helices [95]. Although the consequences of single amino acid substitutions in human AQP2, associated with *nephrogenic diabetes insipidus*, have been studied in greater detail, the impact of single amino acid exchanges on the function of other aquaporins, and especially on aquaglyceroporins, have not been investigated to the same extent yet. In the following, we discuss the potential impact of a few mutations that have been observed in human genome sequences but have so far not been characterized. These uncharacterized mutations of conserved residues most likely affect folding and stability of aqua(glycero)porins and not substrate conductance directly, as discussed.

5.1. Mutations in GxxxG-like motifs, which mediate tight helix-helix contacts

TM helices 2 and 6 tightly interact in aqua(glycero)porins, and mainly small amino acids line the interface [114]. Thus, it is not surprising that conserved GxxxG-like motifs, which frequently mediate and stabilize TM helix-helix interactions, can be identified in both helices (Fig. 8). In the case of the human AQPO, which mediates water flux and is involved in the formation of junctions in lens fiber cells [115-118], one AxxxGxxxA- and one GxxxA-motif mediate interactions of TM helices 2 and 6 (Step 3 in Fig. 5). The importance of these motifs is evident in the AQP0 G165D mutant, which is associated with the phenotype of a lamellar cataract [99]. The respective Gly is highly conserved at this position (Fig. 7), and the mutated protein is impaired in proper cell trafficking [99]. To determine, whether the mutation affects TM helix membrane insertion, the apparent free energy (ΔG_{app}) of insertion of the affected TM helix into the membrane of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) was predicted, employing the ΔG prediction server v1.0 [119] (values were converted to kJ/mol (1 kcal = 4.18 kJ)). This web-based server provides a position-dependent prediction of ΔG_{app} for the integration of the wt and mutated TM helices. In fact, the mutation of Gly165 to an Asp decreases the overall hydrophobicity of TM helix 6, and the transfer free energy increases from 2.27 kJ/mol for the wt helix to 8.08 kJ/mol for the mutant helix. Thus, membrane insertion of the mutated helix might already be dramatically impaired when Gly165 is replaced by Asp (Step 1 in Fig. 5).

Gly165 in AQPO likely mediates close contact and van der Waals packing of TM helices 2 and 6 and might even interact *via* a C_{α} -H-



Fig. 8. GxxxG-like motifs. Conserved GxxxG-like motifs frequently mediate and stabilize tight TM helix–helix interactions. Small residues at the interface of the antiparallel GlpF TM helices 2 (blue) and 6 (green) are depicted (PDB ID: 1FX8). The interaction between TM helices 2 and 6 is crucial for the assembly of the two aqua(glycero)porin subdomains.

bond with Gly49 in TM helix 2 [73]. As substitutions of single Gly residues can severely weaken TM helix–helix interactions [120–122], it is very likely that Gly165 is crucial for mediating and stabilizing TM helix–helix interactions along the AQP folding pathway, and in particular for interaction of the two subdomains (Step 3 in Fig. 5), as described above. The substitution of Gly by Asp, which has a charged and bulkier side-chain, in TM helix 6 likely hinders close packing of the two TM helices (Step 3 in Fig. 5), decreases the possibility for formation of $C_{\alpha-}$ H-bonds and thereby likely causes protein misfolding. Furthermore, by virtue of its polar side-chain, Asp can establish new TM helix–helix interactions [120,123–125], which might also affect the AQP0 folding pathway, yielding misfolded or unstable protein.

Similar effects will most likely occur in the case of the G264V mutation in TM helix 8 of AQP7 [126]. AQP7 is mainly expressed in adipose tissue, where it maintains the efflux of glycerol, but is also found in testis and the kidney [127-129]. The AQP7 residue Gly264 is highly conserved in aquaglyceroporins and classical aquaporins. In the G264V mutant, the glycerol conductance was severely impaired [126], and the mutation was found to correlate with a lower plasma glycerol level during exercise. Normally, the plasma glycerol level increases upon energy demand due to fasting or exercise to maintain hepatic gluconeogenesis. Gly264 is the middle Gly in a conserved GxxxGxxxG glycine zipper-motif, with some Gly being replaced by other small amino acids in some aquaporins (Fig. 7) [72,73]. This motif is expected to be of structural significance, as it allows tight TM helix-helix interactions between TM helices 5 and 8 (Step 2 in Fig. 5) and might be important for proper folding of the second AQP subdomain, as discussed above for the GlpF folding pathway. As mentioned, interactions of the parallel TM helices 1 and 4, as well as of TM helices 5 and 8, contribute to early steps in the folding of the respective GlpF subdomains (Step 2 in Fig. 5). The corresponding Gly residue in GlpF, Gly243, was suggested to be involved in an interhelical C_{α} -H-bond network, acting both as a hydrogen donor and acceptor [73]. Such networks of C_{α} -H-bonds are thought to contribute not only to helix-helix interactions but also to the overall protein stability, especially in channel proteins [130,131]. Importantly, prediction of the ΔG_{app} of insertion indicates that membrane insertion of the mutated TM helix is not impaired compared to the wt helix (-0.67 kJ/mol and)-4.14 kJ/mol for the wt and the mutated helices, respectively). Therefore, subdomain misfolding or destabilization of the AQP7 structure, caused by the substitution of Gly by Val, very likely causes the observed decrease in protein activity. This has, however, not been tested experimentally yet.

5.2. Insertion of polar residues in transmembrane domains

The AOP7 A100T mutant has not been characterized yet [132,133]. The corresponding residue in GlpF is Ala74 (Fig. 7) that resides in the half-membrane-spanning helix 3 and is highly conserved in classical aquaporins and aquaglyceroporins. Ala74 does not contribute to the lining of the channel pore but packs against Met160 in TM helix 5 and Ala244, Ile245 and Ala248 in TM helix 8. As discussed above, small residues are frequently found at helix-helix interfaces in both globular and membrane proteins, as they allow tight packing of helices, enhancing strong helix-helix interactions via van der Waals forces, electrostatic interactions and the formation of H-bonds [134,135]. Small residues (Gly, Ala, Ser, Thr) are also frequently found in aquaporins at helixhelix interfaces [136]. Substituting the AQP7 residue Ala100 by Thr changes a small, nonpolar residue to a slightly larger but polar amino acid side-chain located within a cluster of hydrophobic residues. This might weaken or alter the helix-helix interactions between the half-spanning helix 3 and TM helices 5 and 8. For example, amino acids with hydroxyl side-chains have been shown to be able to form intra-helical H-bonds with carbonyl oxygen atoms (i-3 or i-4), thereby inducing or stabilizing a bending of the particular helix geometry [137–139] possibly leading to a destabilized fold. Alternatively, any interruption of the interactions between TM helix 3 in domain 1 and TM helices 5 and 8 in domain 2, could prevent proper assembly of the tertiary structure at the point where the reentrant loops help assemble the two sub-domains (Step 4, Fig. 5). New electrostatic interactions or H-bonds to Thr100 might alter the folding pathway producing offpathway intermediates.

5.3. Mutations at helix-helix interfaces

AQP8 is expressed in pancreatic and colonic epithelial cells and is also found in the testis, kidney, small intestine and the liver. Besides having a high water permeability, AQP8 is additionally permeable to ammonia and free radicals [140]. The expression level of AQP8 in colonic epithelial cells is associated with colorectal tumors [10]. A known AQP8 mutation in humans is I229M [141]. Based on the known aquaporin structures, the residue Ile229 is located far away from the conserved NPA motifs in TM helix 8 and is not directly involved in formation of the substrate pore. Thus, if the mutation affects protein activity, this is more probably caused by an impaired protein structure or folding pathway. The hydrophobic nature of the residue substituted in this human AQP8 variant is conserved in aquaporins (in some cases Val is found), and the prediction of ΔG_{app} of insertion indicates that membrane insertion of the mutated TM helix is not impaired (-10.3 kJ/mol and -9.9kJ/mol for the wt and the mutated helices, respectively). The residue corresponding to I229 in GlpF is V235. This residue resides in a hydrophobic cluster with Phe145, Ala148, Phe149 and the methylenes of Glu152, all belonging to TM helix 5. TM helices 5 and 8 are proposed to form an early intermediate in the formation of the second subdomain (Step 2 in Fig. 5), and weakening of this interaction could result in misfolding or instability. However, the substitution of Ile by Met does not introduce a dramatic change in polarity, and the steric consequences might be minor, suggesting that the I229M mutation might not be deleterious.

6. Conclusions and outlook

Aquaporins are polytopic TM channel proteins that selectively facilitate the flux of water across cellular membranes thereby carefully maintaining water homeostasis in various human tissues and across the biosphere. While in the last decade aquaporin substrate translocation and specificity were studied in greater detail, comprehensive information on aquaporin folding, dynamics and regulation are rather rare. While many of the observations described in recent years allow us to propose a complex folding pathway, especially some differences between the *in vitro* protein folding experiments and the *in vivo* folding process have to be clarified. Further research also needs to be performed concerning aquaporin oligomerization and its implications on the conductance of gaseous substrates.

Various mutations in human genes coding for aquaporins were identified in the past. While some of them are structurally and functionally well characterized, the majority of the identified mutations remain uncharacterized. Importantly, while mutated proteins might still form functional water and/or glycerol channels, the proteins are destabilized, resulting in defective cellular routing and ER-dependent degradation [96]. Inhibition of Hsp90, which is believed to interact with and promote ER-dependent degradation, has already partially rescued the defects in cellular routing of an AQP2 mutant [98]. Thus, modulating the protein quality control system and cellular trafficking might be a promising pharmacological strategy to treat diseases associated with aquaporin misfolding. Similar strategies are e.g. currently being followed for the treatment of cystic fibrosis [142]. By understanding the mechanisms underlying aquaporin substrate conduction and folding in greater detail, the impact of aquaporin mutations can be derived and understood. Existing structural and functional data can be utilized to deduce information on the impact of single amino acid substitutions, as shown in this review. In the future, such detailed analyses will facilitate the diagnosis of human diseases implicated with aquaporins and might be the basis for developing drugs targeting human aquaporins.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by grants from the "Stiftung Rheinland-Pfalz für Innovation" (to D.S.) and the Funds of the German Chemical Industry (to D.S. and N.K.). J.O. is supported by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada. We thank H. Pearson for carefully reading the manuscript and for helpful suggestions.

References

- Y. Fujiyoshi, K. Mitsuoka, B.L. de Groot, A. Philippsen, H. Grubmuller, P. Agre, A. Engel, Structure and function of water channels, Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 12 (2002) 509–515.
- [2] L.S. King, D. Kozono, P. Agre, From structure to disease: the evolving tale of aquaporin biology, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 5 (2004) 687–698.
- [3] A.J. Yool, E.A. Brown, G.A. Flynn, Roles for novel pharmacological blockers of aquaporins in the treatment of brain oedema and cancer, Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol. 37 (2010) 403–409.
- [4] A.S. Verkman, M. Hara-Chikuma, M.C. Papadopoulos, Aquaporins-new players in cancer biology, J. Mol. Med. (Berl.) 86 (2008) 523–529.
- [5] Z. Shi, T. Zhang, L. Luo, H. Zhao, J. Cheng, J. Xiang, C. Zhao, Aquaporins in human breast cancer: identification and involvement in carcinogenesis of breast cancer, J. Surg. Oncol. 106 (2012) 267–272.
- [6] Y. Saito, T. Furukawa, T. Obata, T. Saga, Molecular imaging of aquaglyceroaquaporins: its potential for cancer characterization, Biol. Pharm. Bull. 36 (2013) 1292–1298.
- [7] D. Ribatti, G. Ranieri, T. Annese, B. Nico, Aquaporins in cancer, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1840 (2014) 1550–1553.
- [8] D. Niu, T. Kondo, T. Nakazawa, T. Kawasaki, T. Yamane, K. Mochizuki, Y. Kato, T. Matsuzaki, K. Takata, R. Katoh, Differential expression of aquaporins and its diagnostic utility in thyroid cancer, PLoS One 7 (2012) e40770.
- [9] I. Hwang, S.I. Jung, E.C. Hwang, S.H. Song, H.S. Lee, S.O. Kim, T.W. Kang, D. Kwon, K. Park, Expression and localization of aquaporins in benign prostate hyperplasia and prostate cancer, Chonnam Med. J. 48 (2012) 174–178.
- [10] H. Fischer, R. Stenling, C. Rubio, A. Lindblom, Differential expression of aquaporin 8 in human colonic epithelial cells and colorectal tumors, BMC Physiol. 1 (2001) 1.
- [11] A.S. Verkman, B. Yang, Aquaporins and ion conductance, Science 275 (1997) 1490–1492.
- [12] A.S. Verkman, More than just water channels: unexpected cellular roles of aquaporins, J. Cell Sci. 118 (2005) 3225–3232.
- [13] M. Hara-Chikuma, A.S. Verkman, Physiological roles of glycerol-transporting aquaporins: the aquaglyceroporins, Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 63 (2006) 1386–1392.
- [14] P. Agre, Membrane water transport and aquaporins: looking back, Biol. Cell. 97 (2005) 355–356.
- [15] Y. Wang, J. Cohen, W.F. Boron, K. Schulten, E. Tajkhorshid, Exploring gas permeability of cellular membranes and membrane channels with molecular dynamics, J. Struct. Biol. 157 (2007) 534–544.
- [16] G. Benga, On the definition, nomenclature and classification of water channel proteins (aquaporins and relatives), Mol. Asp. Med. 33 (2012) 514–517.
- [17] K. Ishibashi, S. Kondo, S. Hara, Y. Morishita, The evolutionary aspects of aquaporin family, Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 300 (2011) R566–R576.

- [18] M. Yasui, Molecular mechanisms and drug development in aquaporin water channel diseases: structure and function of aquaporins, J. Pharmacol. Sci. 96 (2004) 260–263.
- [19] K. Ishibashi, Aquaporin subfamily with unusual NPA boxes, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1758 (2006) 989–993.
- [20] G.M. Preston, T.P. Carroll, W.B. Guggino, P. Agre, Appearance of water channels in Xenopus oocytes expressing red cell CHIP28 protein, Science 256 (1992) 385–387.
- [21] M.L. Zeidel, S.V. Ambudkar, B.L. Smith, P. Agre, Reconstitution of functional water channels in liposomes containing purified red cell CHIP28 protein, Biochemistry 31 (1992) 7436–7440.
- [22] A.N. van Hoek, A.S. Verkman, Functional reconstitution of the isolated erythrocyte water channel CHIP28, J. Biol. Chem. 267 (1992) 18267–18269.
- [23] D. Fu, A. Libson, L.J. Miercke, C. Weitzman, P. Nollert, J. Krucinski, R.M. Stroud, Structure of a glycerol-conducting channel and the basis for its selectivity, Science 290 (2000) 481–486.
- [24] M.J. Borgnia, P. Agre, Reconstitution and functional comparison of purified GlpF and AqpZ, the glycerol and water channels from *Escherichia coli*, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 98 (2001) 2888–2893.
- [25] V. Lagree, A. Froger, S. Deschamps, J.F. Hubert, C. Delamarche, G. Bonnec, D. Thomas, J. Gouranton, I. Pellerin, Switch from an aquaporin to a glycerol channel by two amino acids substitution, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 6817–6819.
- [26] P. Bron, V. Lagree, A. Froger, J.P. Rolland, J.F. Hubert, C. Delamarche, S. Deschamps, I. Pellerin, D. Thomas, W. Haase, Oligomerization state of MIP proteins expressed in *Xenopus oocytes* as revealed by freeze-fracture electron-microscopy analysis, J. Struct. Biol. 128 (1999) 287–296.
- [27] L. Duchesne, S. Deschamps, I. Pellerin, V. Lagree, A. Froger, D. Thomas, P. Bron, C. Delamarche, J.F. Hubert, Oligomerization of water and solute channels of the major intrinsic protein (MIP) family, Kidney Int. 60 (2001) 422–426.
- [28] J.J. Galka, S.J. Baturin, D.M. Manley, A.J. Kehler, J.D. O'Neil, Stability of the glycerol facilitator in detergent solutions, Biochemistry 47 (2008) 3513–3524.
- [29] J.S. Jung, G.M. Preston, B.L. Smith, W.B. Guggino, P. Agre, Molecular structure of the water channel through aquaporin CHIP. The hourglass model, J. Biol. Chem. 269 (1994) 14648–14654.
- [30] G.M. Preston, J.S. Jung, W.B. Guggino, P. Agre, Membrane topology of aquaporin CHIP. Analysis of functional epitope-scanning mutants by vectorial proteolysis, J. Biol. Chem. 269 (1994) 1668–1673.
- [31] O. Pornillos, G. Chang, Inverted repeat domains in membrane proteins, FEBS Lett. 580 (2006) 358–362.
- [32] J. Neumann, N. Klein, D. Schneider, Wie falten Membranproteine? Schritt f
 ür Schritt!? Biospektrum 18 (2012) 146–148.
- [33] Y. Wang, Y. Huang, J. Wang, C. Cheng, W. Huang, P. Lu, Y.N. Xu, P. Wang, N. Yan, Y. Shi, Structure of the formate transporter FocA reveals a pentameric aquaporin-like channel, Nature 462 (2009) 467–472.
- [34] A.B. Waight, J. Love, D.N. Wang, Structure and mechanism of a pentameric formate channel, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 17 (2010) 31–37.
- [35] W. Lu, J. Du, T. Wacker, E. Gerbig-Smentek, S.L. Andrade, O. Einsle, pH-dependent gating in a FocA formate channel, Science 332 (2011) 352–354.
- [36] W. Lu, N.J. Schwarzer, J. Du, E. Gerbig-Smentek, S.L. Andrade, O. Einsle, Structural and functional characterization of the nitrite channel NirC from Salmonella typhimurium, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 109 (2012) 18395–18400.
- [37] D.M. Manley, M.E. McComb, H. Perreault, L.J. Donald, H.W. Duckworth, J.D. O'Neil, Secondary structure and oligomerization of the *E. coli* glycerol facilitator, Biochemistry 39 (2000) 12303–12311.
- [38] N. Roudier, P. Bailly, P. Gane, N. Lucien, R. Gobin, J.P. Cartron, P. Ripoche, Erythroid expression and oligomeric state of the AQP3 protein, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 7664–7669.
- [39] J.M. Carbrey, D.A. Gorelick-Feldman, D. Kozono, J. Praetorius, S. Nielsen, P. Agre, Aquaglyceroporin AQP9: solute permeation and metabolic control of expression in liver, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100 (2003) 2945–2950.
- [40] H. Sui, B.G. Han, J.K. Lee, P. Walian, B.K. Jap, Structural basis of water-specific transport through the AQP1 water channel, Nature 414 (2001) 872–878.
- [41] D.F. Savage, P.F. Egea, Y. Robles-Colmenares, J.D. O'Connell 3rd, R.M. Stroud, Architecture and selectivity in aquaporins: 2.5 a X-ray structure of aquaporin Z, PLoS Biol. 1 (2003) E72.
- [42] K.B. Heller, E.C. Lin, T.H. Wilson, Substrate specificity and transport properties of the glycerol facilitator of *Escherichia coli*, J. Bacteriol. 144 (1980) 274–278.
- [43] U. Kosinska Eriksson, G. Fischer, R. Friemann, G. Enkavi, E. Tajkhorshid, R. Neutze, Subangstrom resolution X-ray structure details aquaporin-water interactions, Science 340 (2013) 1346–1349.
- [44] H. Li, H. Chen, C. Steinbronn, B. Wu, E. Beitz, T. Zeuthen, G.A. Voth, Enhancement of proton conductance by mutations of the selectivity filter of aquaporin-1, J. Mol. Biol. 407 (2011) 607–620.
- [45] N. Chakrabarti, B. Roux, R. Pomes, Structural determinants of proton blockage in aquaporins, J. Mol. Biol. 343 (2004) 493–510.
- [46] M. Kato, A.V. Pisliakov, A. Warshel, The barrier for proton transport in aquaporins as a challenge for electrostatic models: the role of protein relaxation in mutational calculations, Proteins 64 (2006) 829–844.
- [47] J.S. Hub, H. Grubmuller, B.L. de Groot, Dynamics and energetics of permeation through aquaporins. What do we learn from molecular dynamics simulations? Handb. Exp. Pharmacol. (2009) 57–76.
- [48] B.L. de Groot, H. Grubmuller, Water permeation across biological membranes: mechanism and dynamics of aquaporin-1 and GlpF, Science 294 (2001) 2353–2357.
- [49] M.O. Jensen, E. Tajkhorshid, K. Schulten, Electrostatic tuning of permeation and selectivity in aquaporin water channels, Biophys. J. 85 (2003) 2884–2899.
- [50] A.J. Yool, E.M. Campbell, Structure, function and translational relevance of aquaporin dual water and ion channels, Mol. Asp. Med. 33 (2012) 553–561.

- [51] K. Henzler-Wildman, Analyzing conformational changes in the transport cycle of EmrE, Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 22 (2012) 38–43.
- [52] A. Kuzmanic, N.S. Pannu, B. Zagrovic, X-ray refinement significantly underestimates the level of microscopic heterogeneity in biomolecular crystals, Nat. Commun. 5 (2014) 3220.
- [53] M.O. Jensen, E. Tajkhorshid, K. Schulten, The mechanism of glycerol conduction in aquaglyceroporins, Structure 9 (2001) 1083–1093.
- [54] R. Sachdeva, B. Singh, Insights into structural mechanisms of gating induced regulation of aquaporins, Prog. Biophys. Mol. Biol. 114 (2014) 69–79.
- [55] C. Tournaire-Roux, M. Sutka, H. Javot, E. Gout, P. Gerbeau, D.T. Luu, R. Bligny, C. Maurel, Cytosolic pH regulates root water transport during anoxic stress through gating of aquaporins, Nature 425 (2003) 393–397.
- [56] S. Tornroth-Horsefield, Y. Wang, K. Hedfalk, U. Johanson, M. Karlsson, E. Tajkhorshid, R. Neutze, P. Kjellbom, Structural mechanism of plant aquaporin gating, Nature 439 (2006) 688–694.
- [57] S.L. Reichow, D.M. Clemens, J.A. Freites, K.L. Nemeth-Cahalan, M. Heyden, D.J. Tobias, J.E. Hall, T. Gonen, Allosteric mechanism of water-channel gating by Ca²⁺-calmodulin, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 20 (2013) 1085–1092.
- [58] Y. Pan, H. Piyadasa, J.D. O'Neil, L. Konermann, Conformational dynamics of a membrane transport protein probed by H/D exchange and covalent labeling: the glycerol facilitator, J. Mol. Biol. 416 (2012) 400–413.
- [59] G. Patargias, P.J. Bond, S.S. Deol, M.S. Sansom, Molecular dynamics simulations of GlpF in a micelle vs in a bilayer: conformational dynamics of a membrane protein as a function of environment, J. Phys. Chem. B 109 (2005) 575–582.
- [60] M.T. Virkki, N. Agrawal, E. Edsbacker, S. Cristobal, A. Elofsson, A. Kauko, Folding of aquaporin 1: multiple evidence that helix 3 can shift out of the membrane core, Protein Sci. 23 (2014) 981–992.
- [61] S. Piana, J.L. Klepeis, D.E. Shaw, Assessing the accuracy of physical models used in protein-folding simulations: quantitative evidence from long molecular dynamics simulations, Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 24 (2014) 98–105.
- [62] P.J. Stansfeld, E.E. Jefferys, M.S. Sansom, Multiscale simulations reveal conserved patterns of lipid interactions with aquaporins, Structure 21 (2013) 810–819.
- [63] J.S. Jung, R.V. Bhat, G.M. Preston, W.B. Guggino, J.M. Baraban, P. Agre, Molecular characterization of an aquaporin cDNA from brain: candidate osmoreceptor and regulator of water balance, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 91 (1994) 13052–13056.
- [64] T.M. Buck, J. Wagner, S. Grund, W.R. Skach, A novel tripartite motif involved in aquaporin topogenesis, monomer folding and tetramerization, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 14 (2007) 762–769.
- [65] W. Foster, A. Helm, I. Turnbull, H. Gulati, B. Yang, A.S. Verkman, W.R. Skach, Identification of sequence determinants that direct different intracellular folding pathways for aquaporin-1 and aquaporin-4, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 34157–34165.
- [66] Y. Lu, I.R. Turnbull, A. Bragin, K. Carveth, A.S. Verkman, W.R. Skach, Reorientation of aquaporin-1 topology during maturation in the endoplasmic reticulum, Mol. Biol. Cell 11 (2000) 2973–2985.
- [67] Y. Dohke, R.J. Turner, Evidence that the transmembrane biogenesis of aquaporin 1 is cotranslational in intact mammalian cells, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 15215–15219.
- [68] J.L. Popot, D.M. Engelman, Membrane protein folding and oligomerization: the two-stage model, Biochemistry 29 (1990) 4031–4037.
- [69] D.M. Engelman, Y. Chen, C.N. Chin, A.R. Curran, A.M. Dixon, A.D. Dupuy, A.S. Lee, U. Lehnert, E.E. Matthews, Y.K. Reshetnyak, A. Senes, J.L. Popot, Membrane protein folding: beyond the two stage model, FEBS Lett. 555 (2003) 122–125.
- [70] S. Schneider, J. Marles-Wright, K.H. Sharp, M. Paoli, Diversity and conservation of interactions for binding heme in b-type heme proteins, Nat. Prod. Rep. 24 (2007) 621–630.
- [71] D. Schneider, Rendezvous in a membrane: close packing, hydrogen bonding, and the formation of transmembrane helix oligomers, FEBS Lett. 577 (2004) 5–8.
- [72] S. Kim, T.J. Jeon, A. Oberai, D. Yang, J.J. Schmidt, J.U. Bowie, Transmembrane glycine zippers: physiological and pathological roles in membrane proteins, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102 (2005) 14278–14283.
- [73] A. Senes, I. Ubarretxena-Belandia, D.M. Engelman, The Calpha-H-O hydrogen bond: a determinant of stability and specificity in transmembrane helix interactions, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 98 (2001) 9056–9061.
- [74] F. Cymer, D. Schneider, A single glutamate residue controls the oligomerization, function, and stability of the aquaglyceroporin GlpF, Biochemistry 49 (2010) 279–286.
- [75] A. Veerappan, F. Cymer, N. Klein, D. Schneider, The tetrameric alpha-helical membrane protein GlpF unfolds via a dimeric folding intermediate, Biochemistry 50 (2011) 10223–10230.
- [76] I. Plasencia, S. Survery, S. Ibragimova, J.S. Hansen, P. Kjellbom, C. Helix-Nielsen, U. Johanson, O.G. Mouritsen, Structure and stability of the spinach aquaporin SoPIP2;1 in detergent micelles and lipid membranes, PLoS One 6 (2011) e14674.
- [77] J.S. Hansen, A. Vararattanavech, I. Plasencia, P.J. Greisen, J. Bomholt, J. Torres, J. Emneus, C. Helix-Nielsen, Interaction between sodium dodecyl sulfate and membrane reconstituted aquaporins: a comparative study of spinach SoPIP2;1 and *E. coli* AqpZ, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1808 (2011) 2600–2607.
- [78] S. Uysal, L.G. Cuello, D.M. Cortes, S. Koide, A.A. Kossiakoff, E. Perozo, Mechanism of activation gating in the full-length KcsA K⁺ channel, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108 (2011) 11896–11899.
- [79] D.A. Doyle, J. Morais Cabral, R.A. Pfuetzner, A. Kuo, J.M. Gulbis, S.L. Cohen, B.T. Chait, R. MacKinnon, The structure of the potassium channel: molecular basis of K⁺ conduction and selectivity, Science 280 (1998) 69–77.
- [80] A. Miyazawa, Y. Fujiyoshi, N. Unwin, Structure and gating mechanism of the acetylcholine receptor pore, Nature 423 (2003) 949–955.
- [81] N. Unwin, Refined structure of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor at 4 A resolution, J. Mol. Biol. 346 (2005) 967–989.

- [82] J. Neumann, N. Klein, D.E. Otzen, D. Schneider, Folding energetics and oligomerization of polytopic alpha-helical transmembrane proteins, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. (2014), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2014.1007.1017.
- [83] F. Cymer, D. Schneider, Oligomerization of polytopic alpha-helical membrane proteins: causes and consequences, Biol. Chem. 393 (2012) 1215–1230.
- [84] M.H. Ali, B. Imperiali, Protein oligomerization: how and why, Bioorg. Med. Chem. 13 (2005) 5013–5020.
- [85] D. Schneider, D.M. Engelman, GALLEX, a measurement of heterologous association of transmembrane helices in a biological membrane, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 3105–3111.
- [86] D.J. Muller, N. Wu, K. Palczewski, Vertebrate membrane proteins: structure, function, and insights from biophysical approaches, Pharmacol. Rev. 60 (2008) 43–78.
- [87] N. Uehlein, C. Lovisolo, F. Siefritz, R. Kaldenhoff, The tobacco aquaporin NtAQP1 is a membrane CO₂ pore with physiological functions, Nature 425 (2003) 734–737.
- [88] F.W. Lau, J.U. Bowie, A method for assessing the stability of a membrane protein, Biochemistry 36 (1997) 5884–5892.
- [89] D.E. Otzen, Folding of DsbB in mixed micelles: a kinetic analysis of the stability of a bacterial membrane protein, J. Mol. Biol. 330 (2003) 641–649.
- [90] P. Curnow, P.J. Booth, Combined kinetic and thermodynamic analysis of alphahelical membrane protein unfolding, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104 (2007) 18970–18975.
- [91] F.N. Barrera, M.L. Renart, J.A. Poveda, B. de Kruijff, J.A. Killian, J.M. Gonzalez-Ros, Protein self-assembly and lipid binding in the folding of the potassium channel KcsA, Biochemistry 47 (2008) 2123–2133.
- [92] A.S. Verkman, M.O. Anderson, M.C. Papadopoulos, Aquaporins: important but elusive drug targets, Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 13 (2014) 259–277.
- [93] D.C. Blaydon, L.K. Lind, V. Plagnol, K.J. Linton, F.J. Smith, N.J. Wilson, W.H. McLean, C.S. Munro, A.P. South, I.M. Leigh, E.A. O'Toole, A. Lundstrom, D.P. Kelsell, Mutations in AQP5, encoding a water-channel protein, cause autosomal-dominant diffuse nonepidermolytic palmoplantar keratoderma, Am. J. Hum. Genet. 93 (2013) 330–335.
- [94] C.R. Sanders, J.K. Myers, Disease-related misassembly of membrane proteins, Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct. 33 (2004) 25–51.
- [95] D.P. Ng, B.E. Poulsen, C.M. Deber, Membrane protein misassembly in disease, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1818 (2012) 1115–1122.
- [96] B.K. Tamarappoo, A.S. Verkman, Defective aquaporin-2 trafficking in nephrogenic diabetes insipidus and correction by chemical chaperones, J. Clin. Invest. 101 (1998) 2257–2267.
- [97] N. Marr, D.G. Bichet, S. Hoefs, P.J. Savelkoul, I.B. Konings, F. De Mattia, M.P. Graat, M.F. Arthus, M. Lonergan, T.M. Fujiwara, N.V. Knoers, D. Landau, W.J. Balfe, A. Oksche, W. Rosenthal, D. Muller, C.H. Van Os, P.M. Deen, Cell-biologic and function al analyses of five new aquaporin-2 missense mutations that cause recessive nephrogenic diabetes insipidus, J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 13 (2002) 2267–2277.
- [98] B. Yang, D. Zhao, A.S. Verkman, Hsp90 inhibitor partially corrects nephrogenic diabetes insipidus in a conditional knock-in mouse model of aquaporin-2 mutation, FASEB J. 23 (2009) 503–512.
- [99] G. Senthil Kumar, J.W. Kyle, P.J. Minogue, K. Dinesh Kumar, K. Vasantha, V.M. Berthoud, E.C. Beyer, S.T. Santhiya, An MIP/AQP0 mutation with impaired trafficking and function underlies an autosomal dominant congenital lamellar cataract, Exp. Eye Res. 110 (2013) 136–141.
- [100] J.S. Bonifacino, J. Lippincott-Schwartz, Degradation of proteins within the endoplasmic reticulum, Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 3 (1991) 592–600.
- [101] B. Meusser, C. Hirsch, E. Jarosch, T. Sommer, ERAD: the long road to destruction, Nat. Cell Biol. 7 (2005) 766–772.
- [102] E.J. Kamsteeg, T.A. Wormhoudt, J.P. Rijss, C.H. van Os, P.M. Deen, An impaired routing of wild-type aquaporin-2 after tetramerization with an aquaporin-2 mutant explains dominant nephrogenic diabetes insipidus, EMBO J. 18 (1999) 2394–2400.
- [103] K. Hirano, C. Zuber, J. Roth, M. Ziak, The proteasome is involved in the degradation of different aquaporin-2 mutants causing nephrogenic diabetes insipidus, Am. J. Pathol. 163 (2003) 111–120.
- [104] B.W. van Balkom, M. Boone, G. Hendriks, E.J. Kamsteeg, J.H. Robben, H.C. Stronks, A. van der Voorde, F. van Herp, P. van der Sluijs, P.M. Deen, LIP5 interacts with aquaporin 2 and facilitates its lysosomal degradation, J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 20 (2009) 990–1001.
- [105] A. Azlina, P. Javkhlan, Y. Hiroshima, T. Hasegawa, C. Yao, T. Akamatsu, K. Hosoi, Roles of lysosomal proteolytic systems in AQP5 degradation in the submandibular gland of rats following chorda tympani parasympathetic denervation, Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 299 (2010) G1106–G1117.
- [106] J. Huang, W.T. Lu, S.Q. Sun, Z.B. Yang, S.Q. Huang, S.W. Gan, J. Xu, G.P. Qiu, F. Zhuo, S.J. Zhu, J. Jiang, X.L. Jiang, Upregulation and lysosomal degradation of AQP4 in rat brains with bacterial meningitis, Neurosci. Lett. 566 (2014) 156–161.
- [107] J. Zhang, Y. An, J. Gao, J. Han, X. Pan, Y. Pan, L. Tie, X. Li, Aquaporin-1 translocation and degradation mediates the water transportation mechanism of acetazolamide, PLoS One 7 (2012) e45976.
- [108] Y.J. Lee, T.H. Kwon, Ubiquitination of aquaporin-2 in the kidney, Electrolyte Blood Press, 7 (2009) 1–4.
- [109] A. Dibas, M.H. Yang, S. He, J. Bobich, T. Yorio, Changes in ocular aquaporin-4 (AQP4) expression following retinal injury, Mol. Vis. 14 (2008) 1770–1783.
- [110] E.J. Kamsteeg, G. Hendriks, M. Boone, I.B. Konings, V. Oorschot, P. van der Sluijs, J. Klumperman, P.M. Deen, Short-chain ubiquitination mediates the regulated endocytosis of the aquaporin-2 water channel, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103 (2006) 18344–18349.
- [111] P.I. Nedvetsky, G. Tamma, S. Beulshausen, G. Valenti, W. Rosenthal, E. Klussmann, Regulation of aquaporin-2 trafficking, Handb. Exp. Pharmacol. (2009) 133–157.

- [112] F. Cymer, A. Veerappan, D. Schneider, Transmembrane helix-helix interactions are modulated by the sequence context and by lipid bilayer properties, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1818 (2012) 963–973.
- [113] E. Li, W.C. Wimley, K. Hristova, Transmembrane helix dimerization: beyond the search for sequence motifs, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1818 (2012) 183–193.
- [114] W.E. Harries, D. Akhavan, L.J. Miercke, S. Khademi, R.M. Stroud, The channel architecture of aquaporin 0 at a 2.2-A resolution, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 101 (2004) 14045–14050.
- [115] R.M. Broekhuyse, E.D. Kuhlmann, A.L. Stols, Lens membranes II. Isolation and characterization of the main intrinsic polypeptide (MIP) of bovine lens fiber membranes, Exp. Eye Res. 23 (1976) 365–371.
- [116] D. Bok, J. Dockstader, J. Horwitz, Immunocytochemical localization of the lens main intrinsic polypeptide (MIP26) in communicating junctions, J. Cell Biol. 92 (1982) 213–220.
- [117] G. Zampighi, S.A. Simon, J.D. Robertson, T.J. McIntosh, M.J. Costello, On the structural organization of isolated bovine lens fiber junctions, J. Cell Biol. 93 (1982) 175–189.
- [118] T. Gonen, P. Sliz, J. Kistler, Y. Cheng, T. Walz, Aquaporin-0 membrane junctions reveal the structure of a closed water pore, Nature 429 (2004) 193–197.
- [119] T. Hessa, N.M. Meindl-Beinker, A. Bernsel, H. Kim, Y. Sato, M. Lerch-Bader, I. Nilsson, S.H. White, G. von Heijne, Molecular code for transmembrane-helix recognition by the Sec61 translocon, Nature 450 (2007) 1026–1030.
- [120] A.R. Curran, D.M. Engelman, Sequence motifs, polar interactions and conformational changes in helical membrane proteins, Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 13 (2003) 412–417.
- [121] C. Finger, T. Volkmer, A. Prodohl, D.E. Otzen, D.M. Engelman, D. Schneider, The stability of transmembrane helix interactions measured in a biological membrane, J. Mol. Biol. 358 (2006) 1221–1228.
- [122] W.P. Russ, D.M. Engelman, The GxxxG motif: a framework for transmembrane helix-helix association, J. Mol. Biol. 296 (2000) 911–919.
- [123] A. Senes, D.E. Engel, W.F. DeGrado, Folding of helical membrane proteins: the role of polar, GxxxG-like and proline motifs, Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 14 (2004) 465–479.
- [124] F.X. Zhou, H.J. Merianos, A.T. Brunger, D.M. Engelman, Polar residues drive association of polyleucine transmembrane helices, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 98 (2001) 2250–2255.
- [125] H. Gratkowski, J.D. Lear, W.F. DeGrado, Polar side chains drive the association of model transmembrane peptides, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 98 (2001) 880–885.
- [126] H. Kondo, I. Shimomura, K. Kishida, H. Kuriyama, Y. Makino, H. Nishizawa, M. Matsuda, N. Maeda, H. Nagaretani, S. Kihara, Y. Kurachi, T. Nakamura, T. Funahashi, Y. Matsuzawa, Human aquaporin adipose (AQPap) gene, genomic structure, promoter analysis and functional mutation, Eur. J. Biochem. 269 (2002) 1814–1826.
- [127] K. Maeda, K. Okubo, I. Shimomura, K. Mizuno, Y. Matsuzawa, K. Matsubara, Analysis of an expression profile of genes in the human adipose tissue, Gene 190 (1997) 227–235.
- [128] K. Ishibashi, M. Kuwahara, Y. Gu, Y. Kageyama, A. Tohsaka, F. Suzuki, F. Marumo, S. Sasaki, Cloning and functional expression of a new water channel abundantly expressed in the testis permeable to water, glycerol, and urea, J. Biol. Chem. 272 (1997) 20782–20786.
- [129] T. Hibuse, N. Maeda, A. Nagasawa, T. Funahashi, Aquaporins and glycerol metabolism, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1758 (2006) 1004–1011.
- [130] P.W. Hildebrand, S. Gunther, A. Goede, L. Forrest, C. Frommel, R. Preissner, Hydrogen-bonding and packing features of membrane proteins: functional implications, Biophys. J. 94 (2008) 1945–1953.
- [131] M. Mottamal, T. Lazaridis, The contribution of C alpha-H-O hydrogen bonds to membrane protein stability depends on the position of the amide, Biochemistry 44 (2005) 1607–1613.
- [132] T. Pippucci, A. Parmeggiani, F. Palombo, A. Maresca, A. Angius, L. Crisponi, F. Cucca, R. Liguori, M.L. Valentino, M. Seri, V. Carelli, A novel null homozygous mutation confirms CACNA2D2 as a gene mutated in epileptic encephalopathy, PLoS One 8 (2013) e82154.
- [133] M.D. Sorani, G.T. Manley, K.M. Giacomini, Genetic variation in human aquaporins and effects on phenotypes of water homeostasis, Hum. Mutat. 29 (2008) 1108–1117.
- [134] G. Kleiger, R. Grothe, P. Mallick, D. Eisenberg, GXXXG and AXXXA: common alphahelical interaction motifs in proteins, particularly in extremophiles, Biochemistry 41 (2002) 5990–5997.
- [135] M. Gimpelev, L.R. Forrest, D. Murray, B. Honig, Helical packing patterns in membrane and soluble proteins, Biophys. J. 87 (2004) 4075–4086.
- [136] A. Bansal, R. Sankararamakrishnan, Homology modeling of major intrinsic proteins in rice, maize and *Arabidopsis*: comparative analysis of transmembrane helix association and aromatic/arginine selectivity filters, BMC Struct. Biol. 7 (2007) 27.
- [137] J.P. Dawson, J.S. Weinger, D.M. Engelman, Motifs of serine and threonine can drive association of transmembrane helices, J. Mol. Biol. 316 (2002) 799–805.
- [138] M. Weber, L. Tome, D. Otzen, D. Schneider, A Ser residue influences the structure and stability of a Pro-kinked transmembrane helix dimer, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1818 (2012) 2103–2107.
- [139] X. Deupi, M. Olivella, C. Govaerts, J.A. Ballesteros, M. Campillo, L. Pardo, Ser and Thr residues modulate the conformation of pro-kinked transmembrane alpha-helices, Biophys. J. 86 (2004) 105–115.
- [140] G.P. Bienert, A.L. Moller, K.A. Kristiansen, A. Schulz, I.M. Moller, J.K. Schjoerring, T.P. Jahn, Specific aquaporins facilitate the diffusion of hydrogen peroxide across membranes, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007) 1183–1192.
- [141] T. Sjoblom, S. Jones, L.D. Wood, D.W. Parsons, J. Lin, T.D. Barber, D. Mandelker, R.J. Leary, J. Ptak, N. Silliman, S. Szabo, P. Buckhaults, C. Farrell, P. Meeh, S.D. Markowitz, J. Willis, D. Dawson, J.K. Willson, A.F. Gazdar, J. Hartigan, L. Wu, C.

Liu, G. Parmigiani, B.H. Park, K.E. Bachman, N. Papadopoulos, B. Vogelstein, K.W. Kinzler, V.E. Velculescu, The consensus coding sequences of human breast and colorectal cancers, Science 314 (2006) 268–274.

- [142] J.W. Hanrahan, H.M. Sampson, D.Y. Thomas, Novel pharmacological strategies to treat cystic fibrosis, Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 34 (2013) 119–125.
- [143] S.S. Kumari, J. Gandhi, M.H. Mustehsan, S. Eren, K. Varadaraj, Functional characterization of an AQPO missense mutation, R33C, that causes dominant congenital lens cataract, reveals impaired cell-to-cell adhesion, Exp. Eye Res. 116 (2013) 371–385.
- [144] S. Sasaki, Aquaporin 2: from its discovery to molecular structure and medical implications, Mol. Asp. Med. 33 (2012) 535–546.
 [145] M.D. Sorani, Z. Zador, E. Hurowitz, D. Yan, K.M. Giacomini, G.T. Manley, Novel
- [145] M.D. Sorani, Z. Zador, E. Hurowitz, D. Yan, K.M. Giacomini, G.T. Manley, Novel variants in human aquaporin-4 reduce cellular water permeability, Hum. Mol. Genet. 17 (2008) 2379–2389.
- [146] K. Murata, K. Mitsuoka, T. Hirai, T. Walz, P. Agre, J.B. Heymann, A. Engel, Y. Fujiyoshi, Structural determinants of water permeation through aquaporin-1, Nature 407 (2000) 599–605.
- [147] A. Frick, U.K. Eriksson, F. de Mattia, F. Oberg, K. Hedfalk, R. Neutze, W.J. de Grip, P.M. Deen, S. Tornroth-Horsefield, X-ray structure of human aquaporin 2 and its implications for nephrogenic diabetes insipidus and trafficking, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 111 (2014) 6305–6310.

- [148] Y. Hiroaki, K. Tani, A. Kamegawa, N. Gyobu, K. Nishikawa, H. Suzuki, T. Walz, S. Sasaki, K. Mitsuoka, K. Kimura, A. Mizoguchi, Y. Fujiyoshi, Implications of the aquaporin-4 structure on array formation and cell adhesion, J. Mol. Biol. 355 (2006) 628–639.
- [149] J.D. Ho, R. Yeh, A. Sandstrom, I. Chorny, W.E. Harries, R.A. Robbins, L.J. Miercke, R.M. Stroud, Crystal structure of human aquaporin 4 at 1.8 A and its mechanism of conductance, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106 (2009) 7437–7442.
 [150] R. Horsefield, K. Norden, M. Fellert, A. Backmark, S. Tornroth-Horsefield, A.C.
- [150] R. Horsefield, K. Norden, M. Fellert, A. Backmark, S. Tornroth-Horsefield, A.C. Terwisscha van Scheltinga, J. Kvassman, P. Kjellbom, U. Johanson, R. Neutze, Highresolution X-ray structure of human aquaporin 5, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105 (2008) 13327–13332.
- [151] J.K. Lee, D. Kozono, J. Remis, Y. Kitagawa, P. Agre, R.M. Stroud, Structural basis for conductance by the archaeal aquaporin AqpM at 1.68 A, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102 (2005) 18932–18937.
- [152] Z.E. Newby, J. O'Connell 3rd, Y. Robles-Colmenares, S. Khademi, L.J. Miercke, R.M. Stroud, Crystal structure of the aquaglyceroporin PfAQP from the malarial parasite *Plasmodium falciparum*, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 15 (2008) 619–625.
- [153] G. Fischer, U. Kosinska-Eriksson, C. Aponte-Santamaria, M. Palmgren, C. Geijer, K. Hedfalk, S. Hohmann, B.L. de Groot, R. Neutze, K. Lindkvist-Petersson, Crystal structure of a yeast aquaporin at 1.15 angstrom reveals a novel gating mechanism, PLoS Biol. 7 (2009) e1000130.